

RESOLUTION NO. _____

**RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH
THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS RULES OF PROCEDURE
AND RESCINDING RESOLUTION 20-047**

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, COUNTY OF LASSEN:

In order to provide for more expeditious and orderly conduct of public business, and to guide each Board Member in their capacity as Board Members, these rules of procedure are adopted by the Board of Supervisors of the County of Lassen. Whenever possible, these rules are to be construed generally and are only intended to supplement those otherwise provided by law, including, but not limited to, the Ralph M. Brown Act.

BOARD PROCEEDINGS

SECTION 1. CODE OF CONDUCT

The Lassen County Board of Supervisors aspires to be a model of civility in the conduct of its meetings and in doing the people's business. Therefore, the members of the Board choose civility and agree to conduct themselves in accordance with the following principles of civility:

1. Listen;
2. Respect other people's time;
3. Do not shift responsibility and blame;
4. Accept and give praise;
5. Respect other's opinions;
6. Acknowledge others;
7. Speak kindly;
8. Apologize sincerely;
9. Refrain from idle complaints;
10. Think the best;
11. Accept and give constructive criticism;
12. Do not speak ill.

The Lassen County Board of Supervisors also invites the members of the public who are present for its meetings to choose civility and to conduct themselves in accordance with the previously stated principles.

SECTION 2. MEETINGS

A. Regular Meetings

The Board of Supervisors shall meet on the second, third, and fourth Tuesday of each month, but not on any day on which a statewide general election is held. These "regular" meetings may be held in the Board Chambers located at 707 Nevada St., Jensen Hall (located at

RESOLUTION NO. _____

the Lassen County Fairgrounds), the Veterans Memorial Hall (located on Main St., Susanville), or any other location the Chairman so designates (but still within the City of Susanville) and is properly noticed on the meeting agenda published for that purpose.

B. Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Board may be held at any time or place, provided that such meeting is preceded by a minimum 24-hour prior notice. No action shall be taken on any item not posted on the Special Meeting Agenda. Special meetings may be called by the Chairman of the Board. In the Chairman's absence from the County, the Vice Chairman may call a Special Meeting. In the absence from the County of both the Chairman and the Vice Chairman, a Special Meeting may be called by the Clerk of the Board or the latter's designee. Two members of the Board may call a Special Meeting by personally or in writing advising the Chairman or Vice-Chairman in the Chairman's absence. In the event that the Chairman (or Vice-Chairman) declines to call the Special Meeting, two members of the Board may call a Special Meeting by advising the Clerk of the Board personally or in writing (including facsimile or electronic mail transmittal) of the request to set a meeting, which request shall include the date and time of the meeting and the agenda items to be covered.

The Clerk shall thereupon prepare and post the notice and agenda of the Special Meeting consistent with the Ralph M. Brown Act.

C. Time Business Conducted

Business shall normally be conducted from 9:00 A.M. until completed, and at the latest 6:00 P.M., unless extended by majority consent of the Supervisors present. Otherwise business shall be adjourned to 9:00 A.M. of the following day, or on a day as designated by the Board. From time to time, and as the amount of closed session business may require, business may be started at 8:30 A.M. for the purpose of being able to conclude the closed session prior to reconvening in open session at 9:30 A.M. In such a case, the advanced start time shall be timely published on any agenda in accord with the Ralph M. Brown Act.

Typically, the Board of Supervisors will recess at 12:00 P.M. and reconvene at 1:30 P.M., for lunch, as the agenda permits.

The Chairman has the authority, from meeting to meeting, to amend this schedule as the agenda demands, and the law otherwise authorizes.

D. Order of Business

The Order of Business of the Board shall be as arranged by the Board Chairman, except for matters set for a specific time by the agenda or action of the Board. Unless otherwise altered by the Chairman, the Order of Meetings shall be as follows:

1. Call to Order.
2. Public Comment.
3. Announcement of items to be discussed in closed session.

RESOLUTION NO. _____

4. Closed Session, normally scheduled between 9:00 and 9:30 AM., as needed.
5. Opening ceremonies, pledge of allegiance, and invocation.
6. Announcement of Items Discussed in Closed Session.
7. Agenda Approval, Additions and/or Deletions.
8. Public Comment Time, normally held at approximately 9:35 A.M.
9. Unagendized Reports by Board Members.
10. Public Hearings.
11. Matters Set for Time Certain.
12. Study Session (as necessary).
13. Boards and Commissions.
14. Information/consent agenda.
15. Department Reports.
16. Correspondence.
17. Adjournment.
18. Listing Dates of upcoming Board meetings.

E. Matters not on the Agenda

A matter not on the agenda will not normally be considered. Items may be added to the agenda only if:

1. A majority of the Board determines a genuine emergency situation exists (as defined in Government Code section 54956.5); **or**
2. The Board, by a 2/3 vote of the members present (or by unanimous vote if 2/3 of the members are not present) determine both that:
 - a. There is a need to take immediate action, and
 - b. That the need for action came to the attention of the County subsequent to the agenda being posted.

It is the policy of the Board to discourage adding items not listed on the posted agenda unless there is a substantial urgency to add such item.

SECTION 3. OFFICERS

A. Officers

The Board Officers shall consist of a Chairman and a Vice Chairman. The duties of the Chairman include:

1. Presiding at all meetings of the Board;
2. Ruling on points of procedure;
3. Setting the order of business on the Agenda;
4. Establishing and eliminating ad hoc committees;
5. Appointing members to standing and ad hoc committees;

RESOLUTION NO. _____

6. Executing documents on behalf of the Board of Supervisors where the underlying action has been approved by the Board;
7. Calling Special Meetings of the Board of Supervisors.

The Duties of the Vice Chairman include:

1. Fulfilling the duties of the Chairman in the latter's absence from the County Seat.

B. Election of Officers

At the first regular meeting of the calendar year, the Chairman and Vice Chairman shall be elected by majority vote of the Supervisors. Such Chairman and Vice Chairman shall preside for one year, or until their successors are installed, respectively, whichever last occurs. In the absence or inability of the Chairman and the Vice Chairman to attend any meeting, a Chairman pro tem shall be selected by the members present to serve in such capacity at that meeting. In the event that in any given year, the first regular meeting of the year shall occur before any newly elected Board Member (or members) is seated, the election of the Chairman and Vice Chairman shall be postponed until all new Board Members are seated or until the second regular meeting of the year. Any officer may be removed from office by a majority vote of the Board.

C. Filling Vacancies

If the Chairmanship becomes vacant for any reason, the office is to be filled by the Vice Chairman, irrespective of the length of time the Vice Chairman has held such office. If the Vice Chairman succeeds to the office of the Chairman, the Board shall elect a new Vice Chairman at the earliest opportunity.

SECTION 4. ATTENDANCE

A. Board Members

All Board Members are expected to attend the meetings of the Board, unless such member is ill, subjected to a business or family emergency, or official County business. Occasional absences for the purposes of a vacation are recognized. Members are required to let staff know of any planned absences.

B. Clerk

The Clerk of the Board or a Deputy shall be present at all meetings of the Board of Supervisors.

C. County Counsel

The County Counsel or a Deputy shall be present at all meetings of the Board of Supervisors (or available to the Board by telephone) unless prior arrangements are made with the Chairman to proceed with Agenda matters for which County Counsel's presence is unlikely to be required.

D. County Administrative Officer

The County Administrative Officer or designee shall attend all meetings of the Board of Supervisors. Occasional absences for the purposes of a vacation are recognized. The County Administrative Officer shall advise the Board of any planned absences.

SECTION 5. AGENDAS

A. Preparation

Agendas for Board Meetings will be prepared by the Clerk based on items submitted by Board Members, the CAO, Department Heads, Elected Officials, and written requests from members of the public. Said requests must be on the form provided by the Clerk and should be submitted to the Clerk at least 11 days immediately preceding the meeting at which consideration is requested. Requests from members of the public shall either be sponsored by a Board Member or approved by a majority vote of the Board before being placed on the agenda for discussion. Issues or conflicts pertaining to Agenda Items which are not resolved among the foregoing shall be submitted to and resolved by the Chairman of the Board or by majority vote at the next meeting.

B. Timing

Items for a Tuesday agenda should be submitted to the Clerk by 5:00 P.M. of the 11th day (Friday) before the meeting at which the item is requested to be agendized by the person requesting the item, unless a legal holiday necessitates the moving of the agenda deadline. Members of the Board of Supervisors and the County Administrative Officer may submit Agenda Request Forms and supporting information as late as the Agenda Review meeting, however, they are encouraged to adhere to the time limitations applicable to the public. Such submission should include all agenda "backup" documentation, including resolutions, contracts, purchase orders, and/or informational material. Absent a bona fide emergency, the item for which the material is not timely submitted will be removed from the Agenda by the Chairman. The purpose of this provision is to allow sufficient opportunity for adequate prior review of all items upon which the Board may take action by Board Members, County Counsel, and, where appropriate, the Auditor or other affected Department Heads.

C. Backup Material

Each agenda item, whether submitted by Board Members or Department Heads, must be accompanied by a separate, completed Agenda Request Form. Any formal contract or agreement shall be submitted in final form as approved by County Counsel together with any proposed adopting resolution. All requests for approval of purchases shall be supported by background information as necessary.

D. Agenda Review

The proposed Agenda and supporting documents shall be reviewed by the Clerk, the CAO, the Auditor, and the County Counsel prior to or during the Agenda Review meeting which

RESOLUTION NO. _____

is normally conducted at 9:00 A.M. on the Wednesday of the week prior to the meeting being agendized. All Resolutions, Agreements, Contracts, and documents to which the County is a party shall be reviewed by the County Counsel and the Auditor prior to action by the Board of Supervisors, except in urgency situations.

E. Consent Agenda

Items may be placed on the "Consent Agenda" consistent with the requirements of provision "A" above. Items placed on the Consent Agenda should be, in the opinion of the submitter, of a routine and non-controversial nature. At the time the Consent Agenda is considered, items may be deleted from the Consent Agenda by any Board Member, the CAO, a member of the public, or any Department Head, and added to the regular Agenda at a location directed by the Chairman. Individual Board Members (less than a quorum) are encouraged to contact the County Administrative Officer or the Department Head arranging a Consent Agenda item to resolve technical questions.

F. Correspondence Agenda

Any item appearing on the Correspondence Agenda may be acted upon by the Board if so designated on the Agenda that action may be taken on such item. Any item requiring action before the next regular meeting following the one upon which the Correspondence item is placed, and which is deemed to be of policy significance to the Board of Supervisors shall be designated for possible action, specifying the action which might reasonably be taken and attaching any available background documentation of information.

G. Reagendizing Matters

Any matter which has been put to vote, except those which require, by statute or case law, public notices, planning commission recommendations, special procedures, or in those cases where rights may have vested, may be reagendized and placed on the Board Agenda as per Section 5(A).

SECTION 6. CONDUCT OF MEETING

The Lassen County Board of Supervisors hereby adopts Rosenberg's Rules of Order (Revised 2011) as the guide by which meetings shall be conducted. A copy of these rules shall be attached as Exhibit A to this resolution.

While Rosenberg's Rules of Order should guide all aspects of the conduct of a particular meeting of the Lassen County Board of Supervisors, emphasis is placed upon the following topics from those Rules of Order:

1. The Role of the Chair
2. The Basic Format for an Agenda Item Discussion
3. Motions in General
4. Counting Votes

RESOLUTION NO. _____

SECTION 7. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Any Board Member who has a financial interest in a decision (see Government Code sections 87100, et. seq.) shall do the following:

- A. Publicly identify the financial interest that gives rise to the conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest in detail sufficient to be understood by the public.
- B. Recuse himself or herself from discussing and voting on the matter.
- C. Leave the room until after the discussion, vote, and any other disposition of the matter is concluded, unless the matter has been placed on the consent agenda.

While there is some legal authority which allows an individual Board Member to address the Board of Supervisors on an issue with which they have a conflict, it is incumbent on that individual Board Member to correctly apprise themselves to what degree they are legally permitted to do so. Such activity should be exercised with caution not only to reduce the likelihood of a violation by the individual Board Member of the Political Reform Act, Government Code section 1090, or any other applicable law, but also to mitigate any perception of impropriety by the Board of Supervisors as a whole.

SECTION 8. PUBLIC COMMENT

A. Public Comment Opportunity Time: Prior to any closed session and during each regular and each special meeting, the Agenda shall provide a time for Public Comment opportunity.

1. Subject of Discussion: At any regular meeting, any topic may be addressed by the public which is under the general subject matter jurisdiction of the Board of Supervisors. At any special meeting, public comment may be limited by the Chair only to those items which appear on the agenda for that special meeting. In either case, the Board is prohibited from taking any action on any item not listed on the agenda.
2. Time for Comment: Each member of the public who wishes to address the Board shall be allotted three (3) minutes and no more than three individuals shall address the same subject. Time permitting, at the discretion of the Chairman, additional time may be allotted. When necessary, the Clerk of the Board shall operate a timing device which indicates when each allotted time period ends.
3. Public Hearing Items: Public comment on items set on the agenda for public hearing shall only be made during the public hearing time.

RESOLUTION NO. _____

B. Public Comment on Agenda Items: The public shall have the right to address each item on the agenda subject to the rules set forth herein:

1. Board Appearance Request Form: All persons desiring to speak on agenda items other than scheduled public hearings during the meeting, or during the Public Comments portion of the agenda, should fill out a Board Appearance Request Form, and provide it to the Clerk of the Board prior to the start of the agenda item or unless scheduled to speak or invited to speak by the Chairman.
2. Recognition by the Chair: Persons making presentations at meetings of the Board of Supervisors shall first be recognized by the Chair and give their name and residence. Such persons should stand during their presentation, unless invited to do otherwise by the Chair.
3. Time limitation: Unless a longer time is allowed by the Chair, all public comments should be limited to three (3) minutes. When necessary, the Clerk of the Board shall operate a timing device which indicates when each allotted time period ends.

C. "Public" Defined: The term "Public" includes everyone except members of the Board of Supervisors, County Department Heads, Elected Officials or their designees (collectively referred to as "staff"), and any authorized signatory party to a contract agendized and pending before the Board. Staff may address any item on the Agenda if recognized by the Chair. Contracting parties may address concerns to which they are parties, if recognized by the Chair.

D. Disruptions: Disruptive behavior during any public comment or any other time during a Board meeting shall not be permitted:

1. "Disruption" Defined: Disruption shall include:
 - a. Speaking when not recognized by the Chair.
 - b. Abusive comments and/or "personal attacks" directed to or relating to a member of the public, the Board, any Supervisor, any County staff or County employee.
 - c. Profanity, threats, or displays, including unauthorized "show of hands", placards, use of noise makers, applauding, jeers, "cat-calls" and similar demonstrative conduct.
 - d. Public comment on a topic other than that under the jurisdiction of the Board and discussion on items other than under the Agenda item under consideration by the Board.
2. Handling Disruptions: When a disruption occurs, the Chairman shall first warn the party making the disruption (1) the nature of the disruption, (2) that the disruption is not permitted, and when appropriate, (3) if the disruption

continues that such party may be ejected from the meeting. Repeated disruptions shall not be tolerated, and any party or group which continues disruptive behavior after admonition shall be ejected by the Sheriff or the latter's designee, or the meeting adjourned to a future date and time.

SECTION 9. PROCEDURE FOR HEARINGS

- A. The order of procedure for hearings before the Board is:
 1. The Chairperson calls the agenda item by subject line or title. For appeal hearings, the Chairperson announces the scope of the hearing.
 2. Any Supervisor voluntarily or involuntarily disqualified from making or participating in the making of the decision announces the disqualification and leaves the meeting room; except that a disqualified Board Member may address the Board as a member of the public and then only according to section 7 of these Rules of Notice and Procedure.
 3. The Staff report, if any, is given, including any recommended environmental action and, if appropriate, recommended conditions.
 4. The Chairperson acknowledges receipt of any documents offered in evidence and filed with the Clerk of the Board prior to the hearing.
 5. Public testimony is received from persons seeking approval or a recommendation for approval of the matter before the Board. The applicant or proponent, if any, may speak first upon request. In cases of appeal the appellant(s) shall speak first.
 6. Public testimony is received from any persons opposed to the matter before the Board.
 7. Summation is made by the applicant, proponent or appellant, at the discretion of the Chairperson and usually limited to five minutes.
 8. Rebuttal and surrebuttal are allowed at the discretion of the Chairperson and are limited to matters already raised by the prior evidence and testimony.
 9. The Chairperson closed the public testimony phase of the hearing.
 10. Staff clarifies or modifies its recommendation, when appropriate.
 11. The Board determines whether to decide the matter subject to preparation of appropriate findings, or continues the matter, in which case, paragraphs 12 and 13, below shall not apply.
 12. Any required environmental determination is made, including findings.

13. A motion and second for disposition is made; discussion on the motion is held; the Clerk restates the motion; and the Board takes action, including findings.
14. The Chairperson announces the action of the Board.
15. The Chairperson may alter the foregoing order of procedure as circumstances require.
16. A Supervisor may ask a question of any person at any time during a hearing.
17. Letters, petitions, and written, printed, or photographic materials and other physical evidence intended to be used as evidence before the Board shall be filed with the Clerk of the Board prior to the time of the hearing, or presented to the Board at the hearing. The Clerk shall cause each piece of such evidence received by the Board to be adequately identified in the minutes of the hearing and shall include such evidence in the Clerk's file of the matter under consideration by the Board. Documents of things offered as evidence, but not admitted by the Board shall be returned by the Clerk to the offering person, if known, unless it is not feasible to do so.

This does not apply to technical and other documents kept as public records by any City department, officer or employee in the ordinary conduct of City business. Such documents may be included in the record by reference.

SECTION 10. ADOPTION OF ORDINANCES

A. Except in the case of an urgency measure hereafter referred to, an ordinance must be introduced at a regular or an adjourned regular meeting. At a regular or adjourned regular meeting which is five (5) days or more after the proposed ordinance has been introduced, it may be adopted. If all members agree, the proposed ordinance may be read by title only and further reading of the proposed ordinance may be waived. Unless this is done, the proposed ordinance must be read in full either when it is introduced or when it is adopted.

1. A proposed ordinance may not be changed in any way between its introduction and adoption except for the correction of typographical or clerical errors. If an ordinance is introduced at the one meeting and changed at a latter meeting, it cannot be adopted until at least five (5) days elapses between the date it was changed and the date it was first adopted.

B. An urgency ordinance may be passed immediately upon introduction. An urgency ordinance may be adopted be either at a regular, regularly adjourned, or special meeting. A four-fifths (4/5) vote is required on an urgency measure.

1. An urgency ordinance may be adopted by title only, provided further reading is waived by unanimous vote of all Supervisors present.

C. Procedure for Adoption of Ordinances:

1. At the time established therefore on the Agenda, the Chairman shall ask the Clerk to read the title of the proposed ordinance.
2. A member wishing to move the introduction of the proposed ordinance should state in substance: "I move that further reading of the proposed ordinance be waived and the Ordinance No. _____ be introduced". If the motion is seconded the Chairman will direct the Clerk to call the roll. If a majority vote in favor is not obtained, the entire Ordinance must be read. In the event a member wishes to propose amendments to the proposed ordinance, the matter may be taken up either following introduction or when the proposed ordinance comes up for adoption.
3. When the matter is up for adoption, the motion is in substance: "I move that Ordinance No. _____ be adopted". The motion must be seconded and roll call vote shall be taken.
4. Posting or Publication. All ordinances, whether urgency or not, must, within fifteen days after adoption, be published in a newspaper of general circulation published in the County.
5. An ordinance which may be adopted after a required public hearing may be introduced and adopted at the same meeting.

SECTION 11. ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS

1. Method of Adoption: Resolutions shall be adopted by a majority vote of the members upon motion duly made and seconded.
2. A resolution shall take effect immediately. A resolution may be adopted by a voice vote except where the law requires a specific number of votes.

SECTION 12. DIRECTION OF COUNTY PERSONNEL

All direction to County employees should be given by such employee's Department Head, or CAO, or as otherwise provided by law. Individual Board Members shall not give directions to County employees. Individual Board Members who have concerns about the foregoing should direct those concerns through the appropriate Department Head or CAO. If the Board Members are not satisfied with the results of such Department Head or CAO's performance and response on such matter, he or she, may bring the concern before the Board of Supervisors. Board Members may not attend staff meetings called by the Department Heads or the County Administrative Officer, unless invited.

RESOLUTION NO. _____

SECTION 13. AMENDMENTS

A. Amendments to these rules of procedure shall be by majority vote of the Board. A review of these rules shall be performed annually at the first meeting of each calendar year.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the minutes of proceedings of the Board shall be provided to each newspaper, radio and television station and library within the County and to any person who requests such information, as authorized by Government Code Section 25150(b).

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this resolution supersedes and rescinds Resolution 20-047.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a certified copy of this Resolution shall be made available to each Department Head and the CAO in the service of Lassen County.

The foregoing Resolution was passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Lassen, State of California, held the _____ day of _____, 2026 by the following vote:

AYES: _____

NOES: _____

ABSENT: _____

Chairman, Lassen County Board of Supervisors

RESOLUTION NO. _____

ATTEST:
JULIE BUSTAMANTE
Clerk of the Board

BY: _____
Michele Yderraga, Deputy Clerk of the Board

I, MICHELE YDERRAGA, Deputy Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, County of Lassen, do hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was adopted by the said Board of Supervisors at a regular meeting thereof held on the _____ day of _____, 2016.

Deputy Clerk of the County of Lassen Board of
Supervisors